Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-6-2014

Boyd-Davis v. Macomber Law Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41523

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

After being laid off from the paralegal position she had held for over four years due to a slow down in her employer's work, Claimant/Appellant Terri Boyd-Davis ("Boyd-Davis") applied for and began receiving the unemployment benefits to which she was entitled. After a diligent search for a new job, she was reemployed in less than three months. During her short period of unemployment, the Idaho Department of Labor ("IDOL" or "Department") cut off her benefits for a period of three weeks – not because she was not entitled to those benefits but because she did not respond to IDOL's request for additional information by the deadline specified in the letter IDOL purportedly mailed to her but which Boyd-Davis did not receive.

Upon receiving notice that her unemployment benefits had been discontinued and being given a deadline in which to protest this decision, Boyd-Davis submitted her Protest of Determination by the deadline provided. She received an email from the IDOL and spoke with a representative on the telephone, providing the information it required from her – her work search contacts for a particular week. The information she then provided was deemed adequate by the IDOL and her benefits were restored effective March 31, 2013. Her benefits were not restored for the three-week period prior to that date, however.

Boyd-Davis appealed the IDOL's decision to deny her benefits for the three-week period. After a telephonic hearing before the Appeals Examiner, a Decision was issued confirming the denial of Boyd-Davis' benefits. The stated issue in the Decision was "whether the claimant failed to provide information pertaining to the on-line eligibility review, according to \$72-

1366(1) of the Idaho Employment Security Law." Although in its Findings of Fact, the Examiner found that Boyd-Davis had provided the information requested, Boyd-Davis' benefits for the three-week period were not restored because she had not provided them by the deadline contained in the letter she had not received. The Examiner acknowledged Boyd-Davis' assertion that she had not received the letter, but the Examiner relied upon Idaho Code §72-1368(5) in determining that "[u]nder Idaho law, service by mail is deemed complete on the date of mailing," and accordingly determined that the letter was deemed served on Boyd-Davis.

Boyd-Davis challenges the applicability of §72-1368(5) to the facts of this case, arguing that its presumptions of service do not apply to the letter purportedly mailed to her by the IDOL but that it applies specifically and solely to the notices delineated in that statute. Boyd-Davis timely appealed the Decision of the Appeals Examiner to the Idaho Industrial Commission ("Commission"), urging a literal interpretation of the unambiguous statute and entreating it to "liberally construe the Employment Security Law to the end that is purpose be accomplished." The Commission, however, affirmed the Decision of the IDOL. Boyd-Davis filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision and Order issued by the Commission. Her Motion for Reconsideration was denied. The Order Denying Request for Reconsideration stated that "the Commission has rejected Claimant's restrictive interpretation of Idaho Code Section 72-1368(5)."

Boyd-Davis appeals from the Commission's Order Denying Request for Reconsideration and asks the Idaho Supreme Court to properly interpret the applicable law and to ensure that the purpose of the Idaho Employment Law is accomplished. She implores the high court to liberally

construe the law and ensure that the funds set aside to pay benefits to the citizens of this state who, like Boyd-Davis, are unemployed through no fault of their own, are used for this purpose rather than allowing the IDOL to apply stringent standards, unsupported by Idaho law in denying benefits to those who are eligible to receive them.

B. Course of Proceedings

- 1. On March 27, 2013, Boyd-Davis mailed to IDOL a "Protest of Determination" of the "Eligibility Determination" dated March 19, 2013 that had been sent to her by the IDOL in which she was first informed that her unemployment benefits had been revoked. (Ex. 6).
- 2. On April 9, 2013, the Appeals Bureau of the IDOL mailed a "Notice of Telephone Hearing" to Boyd-Davis. (Ex. 1).
- 3. A telephonic hearing was held on April 18, 2013. On April 19, 2013, a Decision of Appeals Examiner was issued confirming the denial of Boyd-Davis' benefits. (R., p. 1-5).
- 4. On May 3, 2013, Boyd-Davis filed an Appeal of Decision of Appeals Examiner with the Idaho Industrial Commission. (R., p. 6-11).
- 5. On July 25, 2013, the Idaho Industrial Commission issued its Decision and Order affirming the Decision of the Appeals Examiner. (R., p. 16-20).
- 6. On August 14, 2013, Boyd-Davis filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision and Order issued by the Commission. (R., p. 21-36).
- 7. On September 9, 2013, the Commission issued its Order Denying Request for Reconsideration. (R., p. 38-41).

8. On October 18, 2013, Boyd-Davis filed a Notice of Appeal with the Commission wherein she appealed this matter to the Idaho Supreme Court. (R., p. 42-44).

C. Statement of Facts

- 1. Appellant Terri Boyd-Davis, a resident of Hayden, Idaho, was employed as a paralegal by Macomber Law, PLLC ("Macomber Law") located in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho from October 2008 through January 2013.
- 2. Boyd-Davis was laid off from her job with Macomber Law on January 27, 2013 due solely to a slow down in work.
- 3. Boyd-Davis applied for unemployment benefits ("UE benefits") from the Idaho Department of Labor on January 27, 2013.
- 4. The IDOL found that Boyd-Davis was eligible for UE benefits, and after the passage of the waiting week, Boyd-Davis began to receive her weekly benefits.
- 5. Boyd-Davis sought reemployment and on a weekly basis, she completed the required report through IDOL's website in order to continue to receive her UE benefits.
- 6. On March 6, 2013, the IDOL alleges that it mailed a letter, identified in its bottom left-hand corner as an "Online Review Letter" to Boyd-Davis' home address ("Online Review Letter"). The letter appears to be a computer-generated form letter. It is not signed by anyone. It does not indicate whom within the IDOL it is from. It does not have a certificate of mailing attached to it. The letter states: "You have been selected to provide additional information concerning your unemployment insurance claim for the week ending 03/02/2013." It states:

"You must provide this information by 5:00 p.m. (Mountain Time Zone) on 03/15/2013. Failure to complete the process by this date and time will result in your benefits being denied." (Ex. 3).

- 7. Boyd-Davis did not receive the Online Review Letter. (Tr., p. 8, L. 19-23).
- 8. On or about March 21, 2013, Boyd-Davis received in the mail from the IDOL a document entitled "Eligibility Determination," Form 57-961 with a listed "date of mailing" of 03/19/2013 and a listed "last day to protest" of 04/02/2013. It included a "**Decision**," which stated:

The evidence in the record establishes the claimant has failed to complete the online eligibility review necessary to maintain continued eligibility. The claimant is ineligible for benefits effective 03/10/2013 and continuing until such time as the claimant contacts the Idaho Department of Labor office shown above.

It also included a "**Summary of Facts**," which stated: "The claimant failed to complete the required eligibility review. This is a requirement to maintain continued eligibility."

It also included a "**Law**" section, which stated: "If a claimant fails to provide the Department with all necessary information pertinent to eligibility, the claimant *may* be denied benefits until the information is provide." (Emphasis added.)

Under another section entitled "**Protest Rights**," it stated: If you disagree with this determination, you have fourteen (14) days from the date of mailing to file a protest." (Ex. 5).

9. On March 27, 2013, Boyd-Davis prepared and mailed to IDOL a "Protest of Determination." In her Protest, she stated that "to [her] knowledge, [she has] provided the IDOL with all information requested of [her]." She additionally stated, "If the IDOL requires

additional information from me, please identify what that information is so that I may provide it. I am confused as to what the 'required eligibility review' even is." (Ex. 6).

- 10. As she had done every week since she began receiving UE benefits, on March 29, 2013, Boyd-Davis logged onto the IDOL website to complete her weekly report. The system would not allow her to access the report. (Tr., p. 10, L. 15-22).
- asked her to call the IDOL on Monday, April 1. Boyd-Davis phoned the IDOL on April 1 and provided her work search contacts, which was the additional information the IDOL sought from her. The IDOL found that the work search contacts she provided were adequate. (Tr., p. 6, L. 11-23).
- 12. The IDOL representative that Boyd-Davis spoke with on the telephone on March 29 informed her that her benefits would be reinstated but that there would be a three-week period during which she would not receive benefits. She also told Boyd-Davis that the reason the system would not allow her to complete her online report was because she had not provided information regarding her work contacts by the date requested in the Online Review Letter. (Tr., p. 9, L. 17-25, p. 10, L. 1-13). Boyd-Davis' UE benefits were denied effective March 10 through March 30, 2013. (Tr., 7, L. 4-5).
- 13. On April 9, 2013, the Appeals Bureau of the IDOL mailed a "Notice of Telephone Hearing" to Boyd-Davis. Attached to the Notice was a Certificate of Service, which certified that the Notice was mailed on April 9, 2013 to Boyd-Davis, to Macomber Law, and to IDOL to

the attention of "Claims Specialist. The Certificate of Service was signed by the person who mailed it. (Ex. 1).

- 14. A telephonic hearing was held on April 18, 2013. Boyd-Davis participated in the telephonic hearing from her place of employment because she had by then obtained a new job. (Tr., p. 9, L. 23-24).
- 15. During the hearing, Boyd-Davis was asked by the Examiner whether she has had any problems with mail delivery at her address. Boyd-Davis said that she had problems with the mail at times. She explained that she has a mailbox at the end of her driveway and that sometimes the mail carriers put mail in her box that belongs to other people and when that happens, she puts the mail back in the mailbox, stating "not at this address." She said she was sure the same thing probably happens with mail intended for her. When asked by the Examiner if she had ever filed a complaint with the post office, Boyd-Davis responded that she had contacted the post office in the past but that it had probably been a year or two since she had done that. (Tr., p. 11, L. 6-23).
- 16. Boyd-Davis explained to the Examiner during the hearing that "there would be no reason for [her] to not have provided [the work search contacts to the IDOL] by the date on the [Online Review Letter]" but that she "simply was not aware that it was being asked of [her], which is why once [she] did realize that was being asked, [she] provided it." She emphasized that she "certainly would not have just neglected that, knowing that [her] benefits... would be halted when...[she] was unemployed [and she] certainly needed [her] benefits." (Tr., p. 12, L. 8-16).

17. The total UE benefits that Boyd-Davis received during her time of unemployment was seven weeks worth of benefits. She did not receive three weeks worth of benefits for the period of March 10-30, 2013 for the reason that she had not provided her work search contacts by the date provided in the Online Review Letter.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a decision of the Industrial Commission, this Court freely reviews questions of law. *Uhl v. Ballard Med. Prod., Inc.,* 138 Idaho, 653, 657, 67 P.3d 1265, 1269 (2003).

The reviewing court may reverse or modify the agency act or decision if substantial rights of the parties have been prejudiced by administrative findings which violate constitutional or statutory provisions, or are in excess of authority, or made upon unlawful procedure, or are clearly erroneous, arbitrary, or capricious. *Greenfield Village Apts. v. Ada County*, 130 Idaho 207, 209, 938 P.2d 1245, 1247 (1997).

The Court exercises free review over all questions of law and any legal conclusions reached by the agency. See *Qualman v. State Department of Employment*, 129 Idaho 92, 922 P.2d 389 (1996); *Crooks v. Inland 465 Ltd. Partnership*, 129 Idaho 43, 921 P.2d 743 (1996).

Erroneous conclusions of law made by an agency may be corrected on appeal. See *Love* v. *Board of County Comm'rs of Bingham County*, 105 Idaho 558, 6721 P.2d 417 (1983).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Industrial Commission err when it found that mailings other than those specifically delineated in Idaho Code §72–1368(5) are entitled to a presumption of service pursuant to this section?
- 2. Did the Industrial Commission err when it determined that Idaho Code §72–1368(5) should not be interpreted according to its plain and clear language?
- 3. Did the decision by the Department of Labor and upheld by the Industrial Commission to deny claimant her benefits defeat the purpose of the Idaho Employment Security Law as defined in Idaho Code §72–1302?

IV. ARGUMENT

The Idaho Department of Labor denied unemployment benefits to Claimant/Appellant Terri Boyd-Davis for a three-week period from March 10 – March 30, 2013. On January 27, 2013, Boyd-Davis was laid off from the paralegal job that she had held for over four years when her employer experienced a slowdown in business. She immediately applied for UE benefits, was found eligible for benefits, and began receiving benefits after the one-week waiting period had passed. She received benefits for five weeks, then the IDOL cut her benefits for three weeks. When her benefits were restored on March 30, 2013, she continued to receive benefits for another two weeks until she obtained new employment in April, at which time her benefits then ceased.

The reason why Boyd-Davis did not receive benefits for three weeks in the midst of her period of unemployment was *not* because IDOL found her to be ineligible for benefits; rather, it

was solely because IDOL found she had "fail[ed] to timely provide information regarding her work search contacts." (R., p. 2). IDOL acknowledges that Boyd-Davis did provide the information regarding her work search contacts and further acknowledges that the information she provided was deemed adequate. The key issue here is IDOL's assertion that the information she provided was not timely.

Boyd-Davis asserts that the only reason she did not provide the information by IDOL's deadline was because she never received the letter IDOL purportedly sent to her that provided the deadline by which she was required to provide the requested information. Thus, this case revolves around whether Boyd-Davis was required to provide information by a date contained in a letter that Boyd-Davis claims she never received.

The position of the IDOL and the Idaho Industrial Commission is that Boyd-Davis' contention that she never received the letter is not relevant because it is their position that pursuant to Idaho Code 72-1368(5), the letter was deemed served on the date of mailing.

Boyd-Davis contends that the IDOL and the Commission have wrongly applied this section of Idaho's Employment Law to the facts of this case. Boyd-Davis asserts that Idaho Code 72-1368(5) is an unambiguous statute that applies only to the notices it specifically delineates by name. She argues that the IDOL and the Commission have erred in their statutory interpretation of Idaho law. She additionally argues that the rigorous standards the IDOL has demanded of her in this case – in a situation where the Department had leeway – have resulted in defeating the very purpose of Idaho's Employment Law.

A. Idaho Code section §72–1368(5) applies specifically and exclusively to service of the five notices enumerated therein and the Online Review Letter purportedly mailed to Boyd-Davis by the Department of Labor on March 6, 2013 is not entitled to the same presumption of service.

After conducting a hearing to determine if the IDOL had properly denied UE benefits to Boyd-Davis, the Appeals Examiner affirmed the Eligibility Determination dated March 29, 2013 wherein those benefits had been denied. (R., p. 1). In the Decision issued by the Appeals Examiner, the stated issue was "whether the claimant failed to provide information pertaining to the on-line eligibility review, according to §72-1366(1) of the Idaho Employment Security Law." Relevant to this appeal were the "Conclusions" of law outlined in the Decision of the Appeals Examiner as follows:

The claimant asserts that she did not receive the [Online Review Letter]. Under Idaho law, service by mail is deemed complete on the date of mailing. Idaho Code 72-1368(5) (2004). In Striebeck v. Employment Security Agency, 83 Idaho 531, 366 P.2d 589, (1961), the Idaho Supreme Court held "[i]t is clear that the legislature intended that for the purpose of perfecting an appeal as provided in 72-1368, service of a notice of determination or redetermination shall be regarded and adjudged complete when delivered to the person being served on the date of mailing if mailed to such person at his last known address." Such presumptions also apply here.

(R., p. 2). (Emphasis added.)

The Examiner then explained further:

The presumption that the notice was mailed and received is rebuttable, nevertheless, a party's unsupported argument that he or she did not receive it is insufficient to rebut the presumption. Striebeck v. Employment Security Agency, 83 Idaho 531, at 536, 366 P.2d 589, 591 (1961). There is nothing in the record that would lead the Appeals Examiner to the conclusion that the claimant was the victim of an error of the U.S. Postal Service. As the claimant did not [] provide the information by the deadline benefits are denied for the weeks immediately preceding the date in which the claimant provided the requested information.

(R., pp. 2-3).

Boyd-Davis appealed the decision of the IDOL to the Idaho Industrial Commission wherein she argued that the Appeals Examiner relied upon a section of the Idaho Code and Idaho case law that concern appellate procedure and are inapplicable to the issue of this case. (R., pp. 8-9). The Commission issued its Decision and Order on July 25, 2013, in which it upheld the decision of the Appeals Examiner of the IDOL. In its Decision, the Commission stated what it found to be the "real issue in this case," which is "whether Claimant can be held accountable for failing to comply with the Department's request when she did purportedly not receive the Department's letter regarding that request." (R., p. 18). Relying on the same section of Idaho law as the IDOL had done, the Commission stated, "Idaho Code 72-1368(5) defines service. 'A notice shall be deemed served if delivered to the person being served or if mailed to his last known address; service by mail shall be deemed complete on the date of mailing." (Id.).

The section of Idaho law on which the IDOL relied in denying benefits to Boyd-Davis and which the Commission affirmed applied to this case is Idaho Code 72-1368(5), which provides as follows:

All interested parties shall be entitled to prompt service of notice of determinations, revised determinations, redeterminations, special redeterminations and decisions. A *notice* shall be deemed served if delivered to the person being served, if mailed to his last known address or if electronically transmitted to him at his request and with the department's approval. Service by mail shall be deemed complete on the date of mailing. Service by electronic transmission shall be deemed complete on the date notice is electronically transmitted.

(Emphasis added).

While Boyd-Davis does not deny that this section "defines service" as the Commission asserts, she does deny that it applies to *letters mailed by the IDOL* and, thus, that it applies to the facts of this case. It applies to *notices*. This statute is in no way ambiguous; its meaning is clear. We can easily determine from it that "all interested parties are entitled to prompt service." The question is - prompt service of what? That is also clear. Interested parties are entitled to prompt service of notices. The next question is – to what notices does this apply? That is also clear and spelled out. It lists by name the five notices to which this section applies, as follows: "determinations, revised determinations, redeterminations, special redeterminations and decisions." Absent from this list are "Online Review Letters" or any letters for that matter. When this section then immediately states that "[a] notice shall be deemed served," it is abundantly clear it is referring solely and specifically to the five notices it just delineated by name.

In its attempt to support its denial of benefits to Boyd-Davis based on Section 72-1368(5), the IDOL further erred in its reliance upon the *Striebeck* case. In *Striebeck*, this Court stated that the presumption of service applied "for the purpose of *perfecting an appeal* as provided in 72-1368." (Emphasis added.) *Striebeck v. Employment Security Agency*, 83 Idaho 531, 534, 366 P.2d 589, 592 (1961). At the time when the Online Review Letter was purportedly mailed, it was prior to any appeal being filed and, thus, again this does not apply to this situation.

When the IDOL Examiner stated in its Decision that "[t]here is nothing in the record that would lead the Appeals Examiner to the conclusion that the claimant was the victim of an error of the U.S. Postal Service," this is puzzling. (R., p. 3). Boyd-Davis testified that she did not

receive the letter. (Tr., p. 8, L. 19-23). Boyd-Davis also testified that in the past she had had problems with mail being delivered to the wrong address. (Tr., p. 11, L. 6-23). From that testimony, the Examiner could have concluded (or simply given Boyd-Davis the benefit of the doubt) that she was a "victim of an error of the U.S. Postal Service." To say that "there is nothing in the record" to lead to the conclusion that the mail was not delivered to Boyd-Davis is to say that Boyd-Davis' testimony was not believed because Boyd-Davis certainly testified to this fact. It appears that the statement "there is nothing in the record" means, rather, that there was no *proof* that the Online Review Letter was not received. But how is one supposed to "prove" that she "was the victim of an error of the U.S. Postal Service"? How is it even possible to "prove" that mail was *not received*? It simply is not possible to do so.

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