# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-17-2014

# Boyd-Davis v. Macomber Law Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41523

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

There is substantial and competent evidence in the record to support the Industrial Commission's findings and conclusion that Appellant failed to provide information as directed.

To be eligible for unemployment benefits a claimant must be genuinely attached to a labor market. *Claim of Sapp*, 75 Idaho 65, 70, 266 P.2d 1027, 1030 (1954). During the whole of any week a claimant claims benefits she must be actively seeking work. *Hudson v. Hecla Mining Company*, 86 Idaho 447, 450, 387 P.2d 893, 895 (1963); Idaho Code § 72-1366(4). Unemployment benefits are only available to claimants who seek work each week as required by the Department. Idaho Code § 72-1366(4)(a); IDAPA 09.01.30.575.09.

As a result, the determination of a claimant's eligibility is not a one-time affair. *McCammon v. Yellowstone Company, Inc.*, 100 Idaho 926, 928, 607 P.2d 434, 436 (1980). There is no vested right to compensation upon an initial determination of eligibility. *Talley v. Unemployment Compensation Division*, 63 Idaho 644, 124 P.2d 784, 785 (1942). The initial determination is preliminary and determines only whether a benefit year is established and whether or not disqualification should be assessed at that time. An initial determination is not a final adjudication of the right to unemployment benefits. *Talley*, 63 Idaho at 645 124 P.2d at 785 (1942).

To determine whether a claimant is seeking work and meeting other eligibility requirements the law requires a claimant to provide the Department with all necessary

information pertinent to her eligibility. Idaho Code § 72-1366(1). A claimant may not withhold information even when an accurate and full disclosure would not alter her right to benefits. *Meyer v Skyline Mobile Homes*, 99 Idaho 754, 760, 589 P.2d 89, 95 (1979). IDAPA 09.01.30.425.07 provides that if a claimant fails to provide the Department with necessary information pertinent to eligibility, the claimant may be denied benefits until the information is provided. "Once a claim has been established, the claimant must provide, upon request, a record of the claimant's work search, in order for the department to assess the claimant's compliance with personal eligibility requirements." IDAPA 09.01.30.425.07.i

Whether a claimant has satisfied statutory eligibility requirements is an issue of fact and that factual determination will be upheld if it is supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Henderson*, 147 Idaho at 632, 213 P.3d at 722. "The claimant carries the burden of proving that all eligibility requirements have been met." *Id*.

The Department sent a letter to Appellant asking her to provide her work search documentation for the week ending March 2, 2013, in an online eligibility review by March 15, 2013. Exhibits 3 and 4; Tr. p. 5, Ll. 24-25; p. 6, Ll. 1-8. The Department mailed the letter to Claimant at her address of record, 12738 N. Strahorn Road, Hayden, Idaho. Exhibits 3 and 4; Tr. p. 5, Ll. 24-25; p. 6, Ll. 1-8. When Appellant failed to report by March 15th the Department issued a Determination denying benefits until she provided the information. Exhibit 5.

The Department concluded Appellant was ineligible for benefits not because she failed to seek work, but solely because she failed to provide her work search documentation when requested to do so by the Department. Because Appellant has the burden of proof, she must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that she did not fail to provide her work search documentation when requested to do so by the Department.

At the hearing, Appellant maintained that she did not receive the letter and had no notice she was required to provide her work search documentation. Tr. p. 8, Ll. 19-23. To determine the adequacy of a particular form of notice, due process requires a balancing of the interest of the state against the interest sought to be protected. *Jones v. Flowers*, 547 U.S. 220, 229,126 S.Ct. 1708, 1715, 16 L.Ed.2d 415 (2006). Due process does not require the Department to provide actual notice, rather it is required to provide notice reasonably calculated under the circumstances to apprise interested parties, in this case Appellant, of the pendency of an action, or as in this case, the need to provide information to maintain her benefit eligibility. *Jones*, 547 U.S. at 226, 126 S.Ct. at 1715.

In LU Ranching Co. v. United States, 138 Idaho 606, 67 P.3d 85 (2003), this Court announced three factors to consider in determining the adequacy of process: first, the importance of the private interest at stake; second, the risk of erroneous deprivation of rights given the processes at hand and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and third, the government interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail. LU Ranching, 138 Idaho at 608, 67 P.3d at 88.

In *Gary v. Nichols*, 447 F.Supp. 320 (D. Idaho 1978), the United States District Court for the District of Idaho reviewed the adequacy of the process an Idaho unemployment benefit claimant received in a case strikingly similar to this one. In *Gary*, as in this case, the Department sent Matthew Gary a "form-letter notice." *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 326. In the notice the Department asked him to reply to his former employer's request for redetermination by March 10, 1975, and "designate whether an interview was desired." *Id.* Gary did not respond to the letter prior to that date because he was out of town. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 321. When he did not

respond the Department issued a redetermination finding he was not eligible for benefits. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 327-328. Gary challenged, as Appellant does here, the adequacy of the notice he received. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 327-328. Gary also challenged the constitutionality of the Department's procedure for denying him benefits without a pre-termination hearing. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 322.

The District Court held that Gary's interest in receiving unemployment benefits was a protected one. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 322. The District Court concluded the nature of a claimant's interest as important, but nonquintessental, and determined it must weigh it with the risk of erroneous deprivation of such interest and the government interest. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 324. The District Court determined that Idaho's scheme of notice and opportunity to be heard were constitutionally sufficient. *Gary*, 477 F.Supp at 326. "In short," the District Court held, "the government and public interest in the efficient and accurate administration of limited agency resources, the prevention of payment benefits to ineligible recipients with the necessarily attendant recovery costs, the other recipients' interest in prompt redeterminations, and the employer's public interest in protecting the fund, simply outweigh the private interest in maintaining the uninterrupted flow of unemployment benefits between initial and final determination." *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 325.

The District Court also determined that the notice in the form of the letter Gary received from the Department was sufficient. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 327-328 In arriving at this conclusion the District Court also looked to Idaho Code § 72-1368 to determine whether the notice provided in the letter was adequate. Gary, 447 F.Supp. at 327. The District Court cited *Fouste v. Department of Employment*, 97 Idaho 162, 540 P.2d 1341 (1975). The Court noted that the case dealt with the failure to appeal within a statutory limit rather than the failure to respond within a

limit established by the Department, the Court found its reasoning applicable and persuasive. *Gary*, 447 F.Supp. at 327. The Court rejected Gary's argument that date of actual notice was required stating "that such a rule would allow one, by not reading his mail, to avoid timely service in every circumstance." *Id.* The Court determined that by statute Gary was deemed to have received notice on the date of mailing. *Id.* Nothing prevented the District Court, from adopting the rationale in § 72-1368(5) and nothing prevents the Commission from adopting the same rationale in determining whether Claimant met her burden of proof. R. p. 18.

The rationale in § 72-1368(5) is based on a presumption recognized by many courts. The mail box rule provides that a letter that has been properly addressed and mailed is presumed to have been delivered to the addressee. *Hobson v. Security State Bank*, 56 Idaho 60, 57 P.2d 685, 688 (1936); *Schikore, v. Bankamerica Supplemental Retirement*, 269 F.3d 965 (9th Cir. 2001); *Nunley v. City of Los Angeles*, 52 F.3d 792 (9th Cir. 1995); *Miner v. Clinton County, New York*, 541 F.3d 464 (2nd Cir. 2008); *Texaco v. Phan*, 137 S.W.3d 763 (Tex. App. 2004); and *Waite Lumber Co. v. Carpenter*, 205 Neb. 860, 290 N.W.2d 655 (Neb. 1980). A document will be presumed to have been received unless there is probative evidence of non-receipt. *Schikore*, 269 F.3d at 964. Denial of receipt merely presents an issue of fact for the factfinder. *Hobson*, 56 Idaho 601, 57 P.2d at 688; *Nunley*, 52 F.3d at 796-797; *Schikore*, 269 F.3d at 964; Waite Lumber, 290 N.W.2d at 657.

The Commission is the ultimate fact-finder for determining unemployment benefit eligibility status. *Scrivner v. Service Ida Corporation*, 126 Idaho 954, 959, 895 P.2d 555, 560 (1995); Idaho Code § 72-1368(7). It operates under a relaxed evidentiary standard. *Mussman*, 244 P.3d at 217. The Commission is not governed by the same rules of evidence as a court of law. *Quinn v. J. R. Simplot Company*, 131 Idaho 318, 322, 955 P.2d 1097, 1101(1998). The

Commission's role is to weigh the conflicting evidence and determine the credit and weight given the testimony admitted. *Mussman*, 244 P.3d at 215. That is precisely what the Commission did in this case.

At the hearing, Roby testified that the Department sent Appellant the letter on March 6, 2013 to her address of record, 12738 N. Strahorn Road in Hayden, Idaho, 83835 as part of the REA process.<sup>1</sup> Tr. p. 5, Ll. 24-25; p. 6, Ll. 1-9 She offered a copy of the letter sent and the Department records indicating the letter was generated by computer on "3/5/13 6:15 PM." Exhibit 4. In *Schikore*, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that a sworn statement that the letter was mailed is credible evidence for purposes of the mail box rule. *Schikore*, 269 F.3d at 964. The Commission found Roby's testimony credible. R. p. 18. The Commission could also conclude that evidence of the Department's routine practice is relevant to prove it acted in conformity with that practice on this occasion. *Hansen v. City of Pocatello*, 145 Idaho 700, 703, 184 P.3d 206, 209 (2008). There was no evidence in the record that the letter was returned to the Department.

Claimant acknowledged 12738 N. Strahorn Road, Hayden, Idaho 83835 was her mailing address. Tr. p. 8, Ll. 7-10. The Commission noted that "[t] here is no evidence in this record to suggest that Claimant has encountered difficulties receiving other documents IDOL has mailed her." R. 19. Claimant received the Determination, the Appeals Examiner's Decision, the Commission's Decision and its Order on Reconsideration without any problem. Although Claimant testified that she did not receive the letter, she did not provide any evidence beyond her denial to corroborate her testimony. Tr. p. 8, Ll. 19-21. When the appeals examiner asked

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The REA program was instituted by the United States Department of Labor to address the reemployment needs of unemployment insurance claimants and to prevent and detect improper payments. <a href="https://www.social.dol.gov/blog/reemployment-eligibility-assessments-rese/">www.social.dol.gov/blog/reemployment-eligibility-assessments-rese/</a>; UIPL No. 10-12.

Appellant if she had any problems with her mail delivery, Appellant could only speculate that "they do mix up the mail when they are delivering it from house to house." Tr. p. 11, Ll. 16-17. Appellant conceded that she had not complained to the post office for a year or two. Tr. p. 11, Ll. 18-23. The Commission weighed the evidence and concluded a preponderance of the evidence indicated that the letter the Department mailed to Appellant on March 6th was delivered to her address of record. R. p. 19. Both Roby and Appellant testified that Appellant did not provide the information the Department requested until April 1, 2013. Tr. p. 6, Ll. 11-14; p. 10, Ll. 3-5.

This Court has held that the Commission's conclusions regarding the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. *Oxley*, 139 Idaho at 479, 80 P.3d at 1080. The Commission's factual conclusions are not clearly erroneous, substantial though conflicting evidence supports those factual findings.

II.

The Department concedes the Industrial Commission abused its discretion when it refused to consider whether Appellant should be ineligible for benefits as a result of her failure to provide information as directed.

This Court employs the following three-part test to determine whether the Commission has abused its discretion: (1) whether the Commission correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) whether the Commission acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available, and (3) whether the Commission reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Simpson*, 150 Idaho at 156, 244 P.3d at 1242. The rule provides that the Department "may" deny benefits until the information is provided when a claimant fails to provide the Department with a record of her work search. IDAPA 09.01.30.425.07.i This Court has construed the word "may" when it appears in

legislation as expressing the right to exercise discretion. Rife v. Long, 127 Idaho 841, 848, 908

P.2d 143, 150 (1995).

In its Decision and Order the Commission misstated this rule. It stated, that a claimant

"shall" be denied benefits until the information is provided. R. 18. Because it misstated the rule

the Commission did not recognize that its decision under this rule was one of discretion.

In Simpson, the Commission failed to perceive the issue before them as one of discretion.

Simpson, 150 Idaho at 156, 244 P.3d at 1242. This Court concluded that because it did not

appear the Commission perceived the issue as one of discretion it therefore abused its discretion.

Simpson, 150 Idaho at 157, 244 P.3d at 1243. In that case, the Court remanded the matter to give

the Commission the opportunity to exercise its discretion. Id. Under the circumstances, the

Department respectfully asks the Court do the same in this case.

CONCLUSION

Because the record contains substantial and competent evidence to support the

Commission's conclusion that Appellant failed to complete an online eligibility review of her

work search activities when required to do so, the Department asks the Court to affirm the

Commission's Decision on that issue. The Department also asks the Court to remand the matter

back to the Commission to allow it to exercise its discretion in determining how many weeks

Appellant should be ineligible for benefits as a result of her failure to complete an online

eligibility review when the Department asked.